# Preen oil and bird fitness: a critical review of the evidence

## Gregorio Moreno-Rueda\*

Departamento de Zoología, Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad de Granada E-18071, Granada, Spain

#### ABSTRACT

The uropygial gland is a holocrine complex exclusive to birds that produces an oleaginous secretion (preen oil) whose function is still debated. Herein, I examine critically the evidence for the many hypotheses of potential functions of this gland. The main conclusion is that our understanding of this gland is still in its infancy. Even for functions that are considered valid by most researchers, real evidence is scarce. Although it seems clear that preen oil contributes to plumage maintenance, we do not know whether this is due to a role in reducing mechanical abrasion or in reducing feather degradation by keratinophilic organisms. Evidence for a function against pathogenic bacteria is mixed, as preen oil has been demonstrated to act against bacteria *in vitro*, but not *in vivo*. Nor is it clear whether preen oil can combat pathogenic bacteria on eggshells to improve hatching success. Studies on the effect of preen oil against dermatophytes are very scarce and there is no evidence of a function against chewing lice. It seems clear, however, that preen oil improves waterproofing, but it is unclear whether this acts by creating a hydrophobic layer or simply by improving plumage structure. Several hypotheses proposed for the function of preen oil have been poorly studied, such as reduction of drag in flight. Similarly, we do not know whether preen oil functions as repellent against predators or parasites, makes birds unpalatable, or functions to camouflage birds with ambient odours. On the other hand, a growing body of work shows the important implications of volatiles in preen oil with regard to social communication in birds. Moreover, preen oil clearly alters plumage colouration. Finally, studies examining the impact of preen oil on fitness are lacking, and the costs or limitations of preen-oil production also remain poorly known. The uropygial gland appears to have several non-mutually exclusive functions in birds, and thus is likely to be subject to several selective pressures. Therefore, future studies should consider how the inevitable trade-offs among different functions drive the evolution of uropygial gland secretions.

Key words: antiparasitic function, antipredator strategies, communication, hatching success, preen oil, sexual selection.

#### CONTENTS

	Introduction	
II.	Hypothesized functions of the uropygial gland and its secretions	
	(1) Plumage maintenance	
	(2) Defence against ectoparasites	
	(a) Defence against feather-degrading bacteria	
	(b) Defence against eggshell bacteria	
	(c) Defence against fungi	
	(d) Defence against arthropods	
	(3) Waterproofing	
	(4) Drag reduction	
	(5) Pollutant excretion	
	(6) Interspecific communication	
	(7) Intraspecific communication	
	(a) Colour-mediated intraspecific communication	
	$(\vec{b})$ Odour-mediated intraspecific communication	
	(8) Symbiotic mediation	

<sup>\*</sup> Address for correspondence (Tel: +34 958245140; Fax: +34 958 243238; E-mail: gmr@ugr.es)

III. Preen oil and fitness: a review of the evidence	
(1) Do we have evidence that preen oil affects bird fitness?	
(2) The costs of preen-oil production	
(3) Trade-offs among different functions of preen oil	
IV. Conclusions	
V. Acknowledgements	
VI. References	

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The uropygial (also called preen, oil, or coccygeal) gland is a holocrine gland, exclusive to birds, located in the integument above the posterior free caudal vertebrae (i.e. in the rump; Clark, 2004). It is present during embryonic development in all bird species studied, but may be absent in adults of several species of Struthioniformes, Piciformes, and Psittaciformes, as well as in some varieties of rock pigeons (Columba livia) (Johnston, 1988). The gland is embedded in a matrix of connective tissue that constitutes the uropygial capsule. It is usually bilobed, with lobes divided by the interlobular septum, although it is very variable among species in morphology, size, and structural proportions (Johnston, 1988). Each lobe contains glandular racemes of follicles where the uropygial secretion is produced. The secretion moves through secretory tubules to the primary sinus in the lobe, where it is stored. When stimulated by the bill of the bird, the secretion is expelled through a collector tube, the primary duct, which ends in a variable number (2-8) of pores, opening to the exterior through a nipple-like structure (the papilla). The papilla is often covered by a tuft of specialized feathers, the uropygial circlet feathers (Clark, 2004).

Birds spend much time preening (Walther & Clavton, 2005), an energetically costly activity that includes, among other behaviours, spreading of uropygial secretions onto the plumage. During preening, birds rub their bills over the uropygial gland, stimulating the secretion to emerge, and then spread it over their plumage and other teguments with the bill. The uropygial gland produces an oleaginous secretion (hereafter, preen oil) whose chemical composition is highly variable at the intraspecific (e.g. Whittaker et al., 2010) and interspecific levels (Jacob & Ziswiler, 1982; Sweeney, Lovette & Harvey, 2004; Haribal et al., 2005). It is composed of a complex mixture of substances formed mainly by lipids, such as monoester and diester waxes of fatty acids esterified with different types of alcohols (sometimes with methyl branching and diol groups), as well as free alcohols, terpenes, and fatty acids (Campagna et al., 2012; Soini et al., 2013). Fatty acids are usually synthetized in the gland (Salibian & Montalti, 2009) under hormonal control (e.g. Whittaker et al., 2011b). According to the size of the carbon chain, compounds within the preen oil may be classified as volatile (short-chain) or non-volatile (long-chain). In addition, preen oil may contain other substances such as carotenoids (e.g. Amat et al., 2011).

The uropygial gland has been hypothesized to have many possible non-mutually exclusive functions [reviews in Elder (1954); Jacob & Ziswiler (1982) and Salibian & Montalti (2009)]. It is likely that the uropygial gland is involved in several biological processes, potentially with important fitness consequences. In recent years, our knowledge has advanced considerably concerning the functions of preen oil. However, results for many of the potential functions have been mixed, while some hypothesized functions have received little attention. Consequently, debate regarding the functions of the uropygial gland and its oil continues. This review summarizes the evidence concerning most potential functions hypothesized for the uropygial gland, and indicates the main gaps in our knowledge about its adaptive function. Finally, I review evidence of the fitness consequences of the uropygial gland.

# II. HYPOTHESIZED FUNCTIONS OF THE UROPYGIAL GLAND AND ITS SECRETIONS

#### (1) Plumage maintenance

Feathers have important functions in thermoregulation, flight, physical protection, and visual communication in birds (Clark, 2004). Nonetheless, feathers are dead structures that are prone to damage due to factors such as mechanical abrasion, ultraviolet (UV) irradiation, and ectoparasites feeding on keratin. Consequently, one function attributed to preen oil is plumage maintenance. Given that preen oil is composed mainly of waxes, it is thought that preening improves the flexibility of plumage, making feathers less prone to mechanical abrasion.

Supporting this assertion, house sparrows (*Passer domesticus*) with relatively large uropygial glands, implying greater levels of preen-oil production (Pap *et al.*, 2010), show reduced feather wear (Moreno-Rueda, 2011; Fülöp *et al.*, 2016). Moreover, given that melanin improves resistance against mechanical abrasion (Bonser, 1995), Roulin (2007) suggested that the uropygial gland should be larger in birds with whiter plumage to compensate for reduced feather resistance. Supporting this idea, barn owls (*Tyto alba*) with fewer black spots have larger uropygial glands than owls with darker plumage (Roulin, 2007). Elder (1954) reviewed several experiments involving the ablation of the uropygial gland and subsequent examination of plumage condition. The results were mixed, with only some studies supporting a function of preen oil against feather degradation (Elder, 1954).

Elder (1954) himself performed uropygial gland ablation experiments in different species of ducks, and concluded that plumage condition worsened with time in glandless individuals compared to controls. Interestingly, glandless ducks not only showed poorer plumage, but also beaks and legs in bad condition, yet no study investigated the reasons for this, despite damage in these body parts often leading to infections and impairment of feeding, perching, and walking. More recent evidence for a function of preen oil against plumage deterioration come from Moyer, Rock & Clayton (2003), who ablated the uropygial gland in a group of rock pigeons and found that plumage condition worsened with time more than in control individuals. Similarly, Giraudeau et al. (2010b) blocked access to preen oil in a group of mallards (Anas platyrhynchos) by placing a catheter over the uropygial gland, and found that plumage condition worsened in ducks with restricted access to preen oil for 3 months. Additionally, biophysical experiments suggest that preen oil reduces wearing in feathers of barn owls and pigeons (Ott, Müsse & Wagner, 2016). However, most of these studies did not differentiate between plumage deterioration due to mechanical abrasion and plumage degradation by ectoparasites (see Section II.2), with the exception of Ott et al. (2016) who performed experiments directly on feathers. Therefore, it seems clear that preen oil reduces plumage deterioration, but it is unclear whether it has a protective role specifically against mechanical abrasion or from feather-degrading ectoparasites.

Reneerkens & Korsten (2004) found that preen oil produced by red knots (*Calidris alpina*) absorbs light from the UV spectrum. Accordingly, they proposed that preen oil might serve as protection against bleaching. This hypothesis was tested by Surmacki (2008) in great tits (*Parus major*) who found no evidence that feather fading with time was prevented or reduced by preen waxes.

#### (2) Defence against ectoparasites

Parasites take resources from their hosts and negatively impact host fitness. Accordingly, parasites constitute an important ecological and selective force shaping host evolution, giving rise to a suite of host defence mechanisms (Schmid-Hempel, 2011). Preen oil has been repeatedly proposed as a mechanism by which birds protect themselves against parasites that provoke feather degrading (bacteria, fungi, and chewing lice), or those that cause hatching failure.

#### (a) Defence against feather-degrading bacteria

Several bacteria inhabiting plumage produce keratinase, an enzyme capable of digesting keratin (Gunderson, 2008), with a potentially negative effect on fitness for the bird (Saag *et al.*, 2011). Jacob & Ziswiler (1982) proposed that uropygial gland oil may have an effect against feather-degrading bacteria and preen oil is known to contain compounds that inhibit bacterial growth [Bandyopadhyay & Bhattacharyya (1996); Jacob, Eigener & Hoppe (1997); see reviews in Clayton *et al.* (2010) and Rajchard (2010)]. The first formal test

of this protection hypothesis was carried out by Shawkey, Pillai & Hill (2003), who found that preen oil of the house finch (*Haemorhous mexicanus*) inhibits the *in vitro* growth of several (but not all) feather-degrading bacteria found in its plumage, including *Bacillus licheniformis*, one of the most widespread feather-degrading bacteria in birds (Burtt & Ichida, 1999). An antimicrobial capacity of preen oil on feather-degrading bacteria *in vitro* has also been supported for red knot (Reneerkens *et al.*, 2008), hoopoe (*Upupa epops*; Soler *et al.*, 2008; Ruiz-Rodríguez *et al.*, 2009, 2012, 2013; Martín-Vivaldi *et al.*, 2010), and spotless starling (*Sturnus unicolor*) (Ruiz-Rodríguez *et al.*, 2015).

Therefore, it seems clear that preen oil has the potential to be used as antimicrobial compound. Some correlational studies support the hypothesis of protection against feather-degrading bacteria. Uropygial gland size is negatively correlated with feather degradation caused by bacteria in spotless starlings (Ruiz-Rodríguez et al., 2015) and with the number of feather holes, now thought to be caused by feather-degrading bacteria, in the house sparrow (Moreno-Rueda, 2010, 2014; Fülöp et al., 2016). Also, the abundance of feather-degrading bacteria, but not other microorganisms, is negatively correlated with uropygial gland size in the barn swallow (Hirundo rustica) (Møller, Czirják & Heeb, 2009). Additionally, social species (Vincze et al., 2013) and barn swallows nesting in large colonies (Møller et al., 2009) show larger uropygial glands than do non-social species and swallows nesting in small colonies, respectively. These species or individuals living at higher densities are more prone to cross-transmission of parasites than are solitary species (Møller & Erritzøe, 1996), which provides indirect support for the hypothesis. Moreover, several comparative studies have reported that species inhabiting riparian or aquatic habitats have larger uropygial glands (Galván et al., 2008; Møller, Erritzøe & Rózsa, 2010b; Vincze et al., 2013). Given that moisture favours microorganism growth and activity (Burtt & Ichida, 2004), a possible explanation for this pattern is that species inhabiting humid habitats need a higher rate of preen-oil production to combat feather-degrading bacteria. However, it should be noted that all these studies providing indirect or correlational support might have alternative explanations. For example, larger uropygial glands in aquatic species may be related to waterproofing (see Section II.3).

A few studies have shown experimentally that birds with heavier loads of feather-degrading bacteria have an enlarged uropygial gland, a situation that is interpreted as heavily infected birds increasing their investment in preen oil (Jacob *et al.*, 2014; Leclaire *et al.*, 2014*a*; also see Fülöp *et al.*, 2016). Moreover, preen-oil composition varies in response to experimentally increased bacterial load (Jacob *et al.*, 2014), although the consequences of this variation remain unclear. The key experiment would be to block access to preen oil in living birds and examine effects on feather-degrading bacteria inhabiting the plumage. Surprisingly, Czirják *et al.* (2013) and Giraudeau *et al.* (2013) found that house sparrows and mallards without access to

preen oil did not show changes in feather-degrading bacterial load in comparison to control individuals. However, Czirják *et al.* (2013) did find an effect of preen-oil availability on other bacteria, suggesting that perhaps preen oil is not specifically secreted to combat feather-degrading bacteria, but rather to inhibit other potentially pathogenic bacteria inhabiting the plumage and/or skin, such as *Pseudomonas*, *Staphylococcus* and/or *Salmonella*. Therefore, although a great deal of evidence from correlational studies supports a protective role for preen oil against feather-degrading bacteria, the clearest attempts to investigate the hypothesis (Czirják *et al.*, 2013; Giraudeau *et al.*, 2013) failed to give it support.

#### (b) Defence against eggshell bacteria

Bacteria on eggshells have an impact on fitness, given that they may cross the eggshell barriers and affect the embryo, sometimes causing its death (Cook *et al.*, 2003, 2005*b*). Cook *et al.* (2005*a*; see also Ruiz-de-Castañeda *et al.*, 2011) suggested that incubation reduces bacterial growth on the eggshell by keeping the surface dry, lowering the possibility of trans-shell infection [but see contrasting results in Wang & Beissinger (2011) and Giraudeau *et al.* (2014)]. Another less-explored possibility is that incubation negatively affects bacteria because birds transmit preen oil to eggs through the preening of the brood patch (Martínez-García *et al.*, 2015).

At the interspecific level, the eggshell-bacteria load correlates negatively with hatching success (Soler et al., 2012). Møller et al. (2010b) reported that hatching success correlates positively with uropygial gland size, but Soler et al. (2012) found the reverse. Both results were from correlative studies, meaning that causation is difficult to establish, and thus these studies lack the power to falsify the hypothesis. Vincze et al. (2013), in another comparative study, found a positive correlation between uropygial gland size and egg surface area, but a negative correlation with incubation period, thus giving mixed support to the egg defence hypothesis. Females usually have larger uropygial glands than males during breeding in hoopoes (Martín-Vivaldi et al., 2009) and house sparrows (Pap et al., 2010), which might be considered indirect evidence in favour of this hypothesis, but Vincze et al. (2013) found no such pattern across species. Galván (2011) found no relationship between uropygial gland size and hatching success in the great tit.

To summarize, the relationship between uropygial secretion and hatching success is still unclear. In the hoopoe, application of protease to eggs catabolised the antimicrobial peptides in the preen oil, but this effect was not observed in starlings (Soler *et al.*, 2008). This treatment led to a higher growth of eggshell bacteria and an almost significant effect on hatching success. But later studies gave little or no support to this hypothesis. Giraudeau *et al.* (2014) blocked access to preen oil in incubating mallards, and found no effect on bacterial growth on eggs. Martín-Vivaldi *et al.* (2014) performed a similar experiment in hoopoes and found that the microbial community varied in eggshells as a

consequence of blocked access to preen oil, but they failed to find an effect of such changes on egg hatching success. Therefore, the evidence that preen oil has a function against eggshell bacteria is still insufficient.

#### (c) Defence against fungi

Preen oil can also contain fungicides (e.g. Pugh & Evans, 1970). For example, preen oil of Pelecaniformes contains dimethyloctan, which inhibits fungal growth *in vitro* (Jacob *et al.*, 1997). In the dark-eyed junco (*Junco hyemalis*), linear n-alcohols, which show antimicrobial and antifungal activity, are one of the main components of preen oil (Soini *et al.*, 2007). Bandyopadhyay & Bhattacharyya (1999) removed the uropygial gland in chickens (*Gallus gallus domesticus*), reporting that this glandectomization increased the growth of most fungi found on the skin. In a set of additional *in vitro* experiments, they found that different components of the preen oil inhibited the growth of several skin fungi. Therefore, preen oil appears to have anti-fungal properties, but this function has received limited attention.

#### (d) Defence against arthropods

Chewing lice (order Phthiraptera, formerly Mallophaga) are a paraphyletic group of ectoparasites that feed mainly on feather keratin (Price et al., 2003), and thus deteriorate the plumage with negative consequences on bird fitness (Clayton et al., 1999). Consequently, it has been proposed that preen oil might have insecticidal properties (Jacob & Ziswiler, 1982). Moreno-Rueda (2010) found a negative correlation in house sparrows between uropygial gland size and number of feather holes, which then were interpreted as caused by chewing lice (Møller, 1991; Vas et al., 2008), an interpretation recently questioned (Vágási, 2014). In fact, a recent study suggests that feather holes are caused by feather-degrading bacteria (Fülöp et al., 2016), and thus, the findings of Moreno-Rueda (2010) could be interpreted as supporting a protective function against feather-degrading bacteria (see Section II.2a). In a comparative study, Møller et al. (2010b) found that species with a larger uropygial gland seem to harbour a higher genus richness of Amblycera chewing lice (a marginally significant effect). The reasons for this result remain elusive, as correlative findings may have several underlying explanations. The hypothesis of a function of preen oil against chewing lice has been experimentally tested only by Moyer et al. (2003), who found that preen oil in the rock pigeon kills chewing lice in vitro. However, using ablation experiments they found no in vivo effect of preen oil on the chewing lice load. The rock pigeon may not be the best model organism for this investigation, given that pigeons do not always possess a uropygial gland (Johnston, 1988), and that their main defence against chewing lice is the mechanical use of the beak (Clayton et al., 2005). Therefore, there is no conclusive evidence that preen oil serves as an insecticide against chewing lice.

#### (3) Waterproofing

Given that preen oil is composed mainly of waxes, one of the first potential functions hypothesized was waterproofing (review in Elder, 1954). Comparative studies show that birds inhabiting aquatic habitats have larger uropygial glands [Johnston (1988); Galván et al. (2008); Møller et al. (2010b); Vincze et al. (2013); but see Montalti & Salibián (2000) and Soler et al. (2012) for two exceptions]. In addition, uropygial gland ablation experiments in ducks showed that plumage becomes more moist in glandectomized birds compared with controls (Elder, 1954). In a more recent study, Giraudeau et al. (2010b) blocked access to the uropygial gland in mallards and found greater water retention by the feathers. Moreover, water retention increased with time and as plumage condition worsened. Bakken et al. (2006, p. 568) argued that there is a 'lack of clear evidence that preen oil contributes to water repellency (except as it may maintain the feather structure of adults)'. However, they found that mallard ducklings covered by preen oil (or another oil) became less wet and lost heat more slowly than did controls (Table 1 in Bakken et al., 2006). Therefore, this potential function would seem well supported by experimental and comparative studies. However, it is still unclear if preen oil improves waterproofing directly by providing plumage with a covering layer of lipids, or functions simply by maintaining feather structure, given that waterproofing worsened as plumage wear increased (see Bakken et al., 2006).

#### (4) Drag reduction

Thomas *et al.* (2010) proposed that preen oil might reduce drag during flight, facilitating air flow. As they discuss, the use of waxes to reduce drag is very common in swimming organisms (Fish & Launder, 2006). Moreover, Thomas et al. (2010) argued that this hypothesis is supported by the fact that preen-oil composition varies during migration and that some flightless birds such as species of Struthioniformes have no uropygial gland. Although this is an intriguing hypothesis, it has not yet been explicitly tested. The fact that preen oil composition varies during migration in some species may reflect different selective pressures that birds face over their life cycle (see Section II.6). One prediction of this hypothesis is that migratory birds should secrete more preen oil, and thus have larger uropygial glands. The only available data (Vincze et al., 2013), however, show the reverse pattern: uropygial gland size is smaller in migrant species. A useful test of this hypothesis would be to examine the drag of birds with and without preen oil in a wind tunnel (Thomas et al., 2010).

#### (5) Pollutant excretion

Many pollutants become concentrated in the adipose tissues of birds. Given that preen secretions are basically oily, they are a good vehicle for the removal of toxic substances from of the body (reviewed in Salibian & Montalti, 2009). Several studies have reported that pollutants (including hydrocarbons from petroleum, organochlorine pesticides, polychlorinated biphenyls, etc.) are secreted within preen oil (e.g. Johnston, 1976; Lawler, Loong & Laseter, 1978; Frank *et al.*, 1983; Yamashita *et al.*, 2007; Eulaers *et al.*, 2011; Jaspers *et al.*, 2013). However, the ecotoxicological role of the uropygial gland has received little experimental attention. Gutiérrez *et al.* (1998) exposed rock pigeons to the insecticide lindane (an organochlorine lipophilic xenobiotic) and found that this organochlorine accumulated in the uropygial gland, providing support for a role of the uropygial gland in expelling xenobiotic substances. Additional experiments are needed to understand if the uropygial gland functions to remove different types of natural toxins, or whether artificial pollutants are concentrated in the gland simply as a consequence of preen oil being composed of waxes.

#### (6) Interspecific communication

Birds must face predators and parasites, which, by reducing their fitness, constitute important ecological and evolutionary forces (Caro, 2005; Schmid-Hempel, 2011). Predators and parasites may detect their prey/hosts by olfaction (Zuk & Kolluru, 1998). Preen oil frequently includes volatile compounds that could be used by predators and parasites to detect birds. For this reason, birds are likely to develop adaptations to avoid detection. In this sense, preen oil may be under selection to be deterrent, cryptic, or allow camouflage.

It has long been known that uropygial secretions serve as a predator deterrent in hoopoes (family Upupidae; see Elder, 1954), which expel a malodorous uropygial secretion against potential predators during an encounter (see Burger *et al.*, 2004). Table II in Dumbacher & Pruett-Jones (1996) lists other species whose malodorous smell derives from uropygial secretions. However, to date there is only anecdotal evidence for this possible predator-deterrence function of preen oil (e.g. Ligon & Ligon, 1978) and experiments are needed.

Uropygial secretions, spread over the entire plumage, could also serve to make birds unpalatable. Interestingly, Møller, Erritzøe & Nielsen (2010*a*) found that goshawks (*Accipiter gentilis*) avoid preying on bird species with large uropygial glands. The authors interpreted this to indicate that species with larger uropygial glands have fewer feather-degrading bacteria, and thus plumage in better condition and with improved flight capacity. An alternative explanation is that species with larger uropygial glands are less palatable, and were avoided by goshawks for that reason.

The crypsis hypothesis of predator avoidance is better studied. Reneerkens, Piersma & Sinninghe Damsté (2002) [see also Kolattukudy, Bohnet & Rogers (1987) and Piersma, Dekker & Sinninghe Damsté (1999)] found that sandpipers (family Scolopacidae) change the composition of preen oil during incubation. Sandpipers usually produce monoester waxes, but during incubation they produce more diester waxes, which are less volatile. Reneerkens *et al.* (2002) proposed that diester waxes increase crypsis in the nest, reducing the detection of nests by olfactory-guided predators such as mammals. Reneerkens, Piersma & Sinninghe Damsté (2005) showed that dogs were less likely to detect objects covered by diester than by monoester preen oils. In addition, diester preen oil was secreted mainly by the incubating sex in sandpipers with uniparental incubation, and by both sexes in species with biparental incubation (Reneerkens *et al.*, 2007*a*). Similarly, mallards in eclipse plumage (moulting their flight feathers, and thus at higher risk of predation) secrete lower quantities of short-chain fatty acids and increased levels of longer-chain fatty acids with less volatility (Kolattukudy, Bohnet & Rogers, 1985).

A related hypothesis that preen oil functions in camouflage, was proposed by Soini *et al.* (2007). These authors found that the main component of the preen oil of the dark-eyed junco during breeding is linear n-alcohols. This type of volatile is typically found in leaves (Vioque & Kolattukudy, 1997), thus Soini *et al.* (2007) suggested that preen oil could blend with environmental odours, making nests or birds less detectable by predators. There have been no experimental tests of this hypothesis.

As for predators, chemical cues may be a source of information for parasites. Some studies have reported that preen oil may attract parasites such as *Culex* mosquitoes (Russell & Hunter, 2005), black flies (Simuliidae; Fallis & Smith, 1964; Bennett, Fallis & Campbell, 1972), or haematophagous mites (Dermanyssus gallinae; Zeman, 1988) (review in Rajchard, 2007). Given the negative effects of parasitism, preen oil could be selected to become cryptic, provide camouflage, or even to act as a repellent against odour-oriented parasites. Recently, Magallanes et al. (2016) found that house sparrows with large uropygial glands are less likely to be infected with haemosporidians, and suggested that this was a consequence of a possible repellent effect of preen oil on haemosporidian vectors (haematophagous diptera). By contrast, Allan, Bernier & Kline (2006) and Martínez de la Puente et al. (2011) found no attractive or repellent effect of preen oil on dipteran parasites.

#### (7) Intraspecific communication

Birds engage in intraspecific communication in several contexts such as parent-offspring relationships, mating, and competition. In such communication, birds use different channels to transmit information, with the visual channel the most used and studied. Given that preen oil is spread onto the plumage, and absorbs different wavelengths of light (Reneerkens & Korsten, 2004), it has been suggested that preen oil may influence plumage colouration (Piersma et al., 1999). In addition, although birds are typically considered microsmatic (Roper, 1999), many experimental studies show that olfaction is an important means of communication in birds (reviews in Hagelin, 2007; Hagelin & Jones, 2007; Rajchard, 2007; Balthazart & Taziaux, 2009; Caro & Balthazart, 2010). Given that uropygial gland secretions include a number of volatile compounds that may be considered potential semiochemicals [reviewed in Campagna et al. (2012); see also Rajchard (2007) and Soini et al. (2013)], it has also been proposed that they may function in odour-mediated intraspecific communication.

#### (a) Colour-mediated intraspecific communication

Colouration of bird plumage is mainly the result of pigments embedded in feathers and the structural arrangement of the layers of keratin (review in Hill & McGraw, 2006). Pigment deposition as well as layer structure are determined during the moult. However, the colour of fully grown feathers may be altered cosmetically [reviews in Montgomerie (2006) and Delhey, Peters & Kempenaers (2007)], one of the main cosmetics in birds being uropygial gland secretions. Preen oil is coloured in several species (Table 1 in Delhey et al., 2007). Therefore, by applying preen oil, birds may change the colour of their plumage, as for example in the greater flamingo (Phoenicopterus roseus) where the pink plumage is produced by carotenoids. Amat et al. (2011) found that the preen oil of this bird contains carotenoids that when applied to the feathers make feather colouration more intense. More colourful flamingos had a higher breeding success.

Pigmented preen oil might affect bird colouration in other ways. Reneerkens & Korsten (2004) found that preen oil produced by red knots during breeding absorbs more light. However, plumage reflectance was not altered by the addition of preen oil. Delhey et al. (2008) examined the optical properties of preen oil in 51 species. Application of preen oil generally reduced plumage brightness, but only to a degree not detectable by birds. Delhey et al. (2008) therefore concluded that preen oil does not alter colouration in birds. By contrast, Surmacki (2008; also see Surmacki & Nowakowski, 2007) found that preen waxes affected the colour of the feathers of great tits (decreasing brightness and changing hue). Pérez-Rodríguez, Mougeot & Bortolotti (2011) found that preen oil reduces plumage brightness, but increased UV hue and yellow chroma to a degree perceptible by the birds. These contrasting results may have several explanations, but the most clear confounding factor is that preen-oil composition varies with season (e.g. Haribal et al., 2005). Therefore, it is possible that preen oil collected outside the mating season has no effect on colouration.

A number of studies on live birds provide additional evidence for a cosmetic function of preen-oil. Galván & Sanz (2006) found a positive correlation between plumage brightness in great tits and uropygial gland size, while Moreno-Rueda (2016) found a relationship between bib colour saturation and uropygial gland size in house sparrows. In nestling tawny owls (Strix aluco) preen oil was shown experimentally to reduce the brightness of the bill (Piault et al., 2008); when preen-oil production was inhibited by the inoculation of an antigen [lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from the cell wall of Escherichia coli], bill brightness increased. López-Rull, Pagán & Macías García (2010) blocked the uropygial gland papilla in house finches and found that this caused their carotenoid-based colouration to become less red, thus decreasing plumage ornamentation. Application of preen waxes to museum skin specimens confirmed that preen waxes altered colouration in this species.

Preen oil might also affect colouration indirectly throughout its effect on feather-degrading bacteria (see Section II.2*a*). Feather-degrading bacteria degrade white

feathers more easily (Goldstein et al., 2004; Gunderson et al., 2008; Ruiz-de-Castañeda et al., 2012; but see contrasting results in Grande, Negro & Torres, 2004). Therefore, the size of white spots or patches could be honest signals of anti-microbial capacity of the preen oil in males that females could use to identify high-quality mates. In accordance with this idea, Moreno-Rueda (2010) found a positive correlation between uropygial gland size and the size of the white wingbar in house sparrows. Similarly, Ruiz-Rodríguez et al. (2015) predicted that the ornamental elongated throat feathers in male spotless starlings should be more susceptible to degredation by bacteria, and thus this ornament specifically signals individual resistance to bacteria. Confirming this hypothesis, bacterial damage was greater in the throat feathers of males than in the throat feathers of females or non-ornamental feathers. Feather degradation may also affect other plumage patterns: it has been shown that plumage bacteria disproportionately affect blue, red, and iridescent colourations (Shawkey et al., 2007; Gunderson, Forsyth & Swaddle, 2009; Shawkey, Pillai & Hill, 2009; Leclaire et al., 2014a), but any mediating effect of preen oil remains to be demonstrated.

Finally, Soler *et al.* (2014*a*) demonstrated that hoopoes colour their eggs brown using preen oil. They suggested that such colouration acts as a signal of antimicrobial capacity of the female, analogous to the signalling properties of blue eggs in other species (see Moreno & Osorno, 2003).

To summarize, several different hypotheses have been proposed in which preen oil is used by birds to alter their colouration. It seems clear that some species, such as flamingos, use preen oil to colour their plumage. Even where preen oil has no obvious colour, it may be used to modify plumage colouration. Further experiments in which the uropygial gland is blocked are necessary to determine whether preen oil inhibits the action of feather-degrading bacteria, and thus limits their effect on plumage colouration, and to investigate any effects of this on the attractiveness of the birds to mates.

#### (b) Odour-mediated intraspecific communication

Balthazart & Schoffeniels (1979) demonstrated that odour and olfaction play an important role in regulating sexual behaviour in mallards. In mallards, preen-oil composition differs between the sexes during breeding, but not outside the breeding season (Jacob, Balthazart & Schoffeniels, 1979), suggesting that diester waxes produced seasonally by females could act as a sexual pheromone. Other studies have found sex-related changes in preen-oil composition during the mating season (e.g. Haribal et al., 2005; Zhang, Sun & Zuo, 2009; Mardon et al., 2010; Whittaker et al., 2010; Leclaire et al., 2011; Tuttle et al., 2014). However, seasonal changes in preen-oil composition may have other underlying causes (for example, crypsis; Reneerkens et al., 2005). Moreover, although the uropygial gland secretes a highly variable number of volatiles (Soini et al., 2013), bird odour is not exclusively produced by this gland as birds secrete volatiles potentially used in chemical communication through other glands and even the skin (Hagelin, 2007). Nonetheless, odour derived from preen oil is found on plumage (Mardon, Saunders & Bonadonna, 2011). Whittaker *et al.* (2015) suggested that birds might leave odour footprints by bill-wiping, a behaviour in which they scrape their bill on the substrate.

Support for the hypothesis that the uropygial gland produces pheromones comes from Galván & Møller (2013), who found a positive correlation between olfactory bulb size and the size of the feather tuft present on the uropygial gland of several bird species, suggesting that the tuft could function to accumulate preen oil and slowly release its odour. Experiments removing the tuft could test this idea. Experimental studies offer stronger evidence of a role of the uropygial gland in sexual communication. Hirao, Aoyama & Sugita (2009) showed that control male chickens preferred female chickens with the uropygial gland versus glandectomized hens, but anosmic males showed no preference for hens with intact uropygial glands. Zhang et al. (2010) showed that female budgerigars (*Melopsittacus undulatus*) recognized males by odour in Y-maze experiments. They established that male preen oil differed from female oil mainly in higher concentrations of a number of alkanes and showed that females were attracted by the alkanes present in male preen oil. Similarly, spotless starlings and dark-eyed juncos show sexual differences in the composition of uropygial gland secretions, and these birds may discriminate the sex of conspecifics by odour – both males and females prefer male scent (Whittaker et al., 2010, 2011a; Amo et al., 2012).

If the uropygial gland is involved in sexual communication then (i) males are expected to differ in preen-oil composition, (ii) these differences should be correlated with male 'quality', and (iii) females should prefer the odour of males of higher 'quality' (see also Johansson & Jones, 2007). Whittaker *et al.* (2011*a*) found that smaller dark-eyed junco males secreted a less 'male-like' preen oil (with a composition more similar to that of females). However, females appeared to prefer the odour of smaller males. In a subsequent study, Whittaker *et al.* (2013) showed that male dark-eyed juncos with more 'male-like' preen-oil composition sired more offspring and suffered less cuckoldry. Moreover, males with a more 'male-like' volatile profile fledged more nestlings (own or extra-pair). These findings provide key evidence that preen-oil scent is under sexual selection.

Birds might signal by their odour their alleles for the major histocompatibility complex (MHC). Birds mate according to the composition of MHC alleles (e.g. Griggio *et al.*, 2011), which could be recognized by olfaction (Zelano & Edwards, 2002). A good candidate emitter is the uropygial secretion. Leclaire *et al.* (2014*b*) found a positive correlation for similarity between MHC alleles and chemical composition of the preen oil in the black-legged kittiwake (*Rissa tridactyla*). In addition, Leclaire *et al.* (2012) found that the components of uropygial gland secretion were correlated with genetic heterozygosity. Therefore, the basis for signalling of genetic 'quality' clearly exists and future studies should test whether it is used in mate choice.

Most studies analysing the volatile components of uropygial gland secretions have found that the amount and composition of preen oil varies with sex (e.g. Whittaker et al., 2010; Amo et al., 2012), age (Amo et al., 2012), hormone levels (e.g. Whelan et al., 2010), and among individuals (Mardon et al., 2010; Whittaker et al., 2010; Leclaire et al., 2011), suggesting that it may convey potentially useful information during intraspecific interactions such as in individual recognition. That is, it seems clear that each bird could have an individual smell, but this does not imply that birds can use this as a signal. The available studies give mixed results. Grubb (1974) found that Leach's petrels (Oceanodroma *leucorrhoa*) preferred the odour of their own nest in a Y-maze experiment, but not the odour of their own preen oil. Female dark-eved juncos have been shown to reduce incubation time in response to foreign preen-oil odour (Whittaker et al., 2009), suggesting that they can distinguish their own preen oil. Spotless starlings do not recognize their own offspring on the basis on the preen-oil odour (Amo et al., 2014).

Several studies have analysed whether birds use odour for species recognition. Chickens exposed to an artificial hen preen oil odour were less stressed than control chickens (Madec *et al.*, 2008). Dark-eyed juncos discriminate the preen-oil odour of conspecifics *versus* heterospecifics (Whittaker *et al.*, 2011*a*). Zhang, Du & Zhang (2013) showed that uropygial scent allows species recognition in two sympatric waxwings (*Bombycilla* spp.). Soler *et al.* (2014*b*) tested whether odour affected egg-ejection behaviour in the magpie (*Pica pica*), a species parasitized by the great spotted cuckoo (*Clamator glandarius*). Although these researchers found that strong unnatural odours affected rejection behaviour, their trials with uropygial gland scent gave unclear results.

#### (8) Symbiotic mediation

Several authors have proposed diverse ways by which preen oil may affect bird fitness by an indirect effect on symbiotic and mutualistic organisms living on birds. This hypothesis may be considered a refinement of the hypotheses discussed above, in which symbiotic organisms have a special role. For example, feather mites (Acari, suborder Astigmata) are small arthropods that live inside bird plumage feeding on microbes, fungi, and particles trapped in the uropygial secretions (Proctor, 2003). Most feather mites seem to be commensal or mutualistic (Blanco et al., 2001; Galván et al., 2012). Galván & Sanz (2006) proposed that preen oil serves to maintain plumage in prime condition by favouring feather mites, thereby triggering a mite-mediated effect. They found a positive correlation between uropygial gland size, feather-mite load, and more colourful plumage in great tits. In a comparative study, Galván et al. (2008) found that bird species with larger uropygial glands also harboured higher loads of feather mites.

Soler *et al.* (2012) found that bird species with a higher feather-mite load had a lower eggshell-bacteria load (given that mites feed on bacteria). They predicted that birds with larger uropygial glands should harbour more feather mites and should show higher hatching success, but did not test

these predictions. By contrast, Galván & Sanz (2006) reported that great tits with heavier mite loads showed lower hatching success.

Both of these studies were correlational and therefore their conclusions may have alternative interpretations. For example, it could be speculated that birds with greater bacterial loads would have a larger uropygial gland (see Jacob *et al.*, 2014), and given that feather mites feed on bacteria, feather-mite loads would also be greater, leading to a correlation without causality. Pap *et al.* (2010) examined seasonal covariation between uropygial gland size and feather-mite load in house sparrows, finding that both traits follow reverse rather than positive covariation (see their fig. 1). Additionally, they found no effect of uropygial glandectomization on mite abundance. The available evidence thus does not support a mite-mediated effect.

Soler *et al.* (2010) proposed that preen oil might differentially promote growth of symbiotic bacteria that exclude pathogenic bacteria (i.e. those that damage plumage or eggs). However, at least in house finches, red knots, spotless starlings, and house sparrows the known anti-microbial properties of preen oil are direct (Shawkey *et al.*, 2003; Reneerkens *et al.*, 2008; Ruiz-Rodríguez *et al.*, 2015; Magallanes *et al.*, 2016), and there is no evidence of indirect effects mediated by symbiotic bacteria. The symbiotic-mediation hypothesis, nonetheless, deserves formal investigation, especially given that some studies have reported positive effects of preen oil on some bacteria and fungi (Pugh & Evans, 1970; Bandyopadhyay & Bhattacharyya, 1996).

In the hoopoe, the antimicrobial capacity of preen oil is due to the presence of symbiotic bacteria inhabiting the uropygial gland (mainly *Enterococcus faecalis*; Martín-Platero *et al.*, 2006; Martín-Vivaldi *et al.*, 2009; Ruiz-Rodríguez *et al.*, 2012, 2013; also see Law-Brown & Meyers, 2003). This was demonstrated with experiments in which injection of antibiotics into the uropygial gland reduced the production of preen oil (Martín-Vivaldi *et al.*, 2009) and changed its composition, with the resulting preen oil proving ineffective against bacteria (Martín-Vivaldi *et al.*, 2010). However, in other species such as the spotless starling, the preen oil shows antimicrobial properties against feather-degrading bacteria (Ruiz-Rodríguez *et al.*, 2015) despite the absence of symbiotic bacteria in its uropygial gland (Soler *et al.*, 2008).

Finally, it should be highlighted that not all chemicals found on feathers are secreted by the uropygial gland. The toxins present in the feathers of pitohuis (*Pitohui* spp.) or the tangerine-like odour of the crested auklet (*Aethia cristatella*) are not secreted by the uropygial gland (Dumbacher *et al.*, 1992; Hagelin, 2007). Both of these chemicals are known to have anti-ectoparasite properties (Dumbacher, 1999; Douglas, Malenke & Clayton, 2005). Jacob & Ziswiler (1982) suggested that some chemicals secreted by the uropygial gland might become active (as pheromones, defensive chemicals, etc.) only after their metabolic processing by bacteria inhabiting the plumage and skin.

## III. PREEN OIL AND FITNESS: A REVIEW OF THE EVIDENCE

## (1) Do we have evidence that preen oil affects bird fitness?

There is an implicit assumption common to all studies on the function of preen oil: uropygial gland secretions affect bird fitness. Therefore, intraspecific variation in secretion composition or quantity (frequently estimated as uropygial gland size) is presumed to correlate with bird fitness. Most studies discussed herein tested the mechanisms by which preen oil could impact fitness without considering whether preen oil actually affects bird fitness. This should be addressed before searching for the underlying mechanisms. For example, preen oil seems to improve plumage condition (although the exact mechanism remains to be clarified), but it is unknown whether intraspecific variation in uropygial functioning is related to fitness through plumage condition. Indeed, the final target of selection for improving plumage with preen oil could be one of several possibilities: enhanced insulation for thermoregulation, flight capacity for foraging, or flight ability for escaping from predators.

Salibian & Montalti (2009) addressed the fitness consequences of the uropygial gland in the rock pigeon, finding that glandectomization had no effect on survival over a period of several months. However, rock pigeons do not always possess a uropygial gland, and thus may not be the best model system for such studies. Elder (1954) also provided no clear information regarding the survival consequences of uropygial gland ablation in ducks. Møller *et al.* (2010*a*) reported higher risk of predation in species with small uropygial glands, but it is unknown whether a similar pattern exists at intraspecific level (i.e. the level at which natural selection acts).

The only experimental study to address this key question is Giraudeau et al. (2010a). Blocking access to preen oil in reproducing mallards resulted in mass loss, increased plasma lysozyme levels (related to infection), reduced egg size, and higher yolk carotenoid content. Reduced egg size is negative for chick survival (Krist, 2011), but increased carotenoid content is positive (Saino et al., 2011), thus it is unclear whether breeding success was higher, unaffected, or lower in gland-blocked mallards. Clearly further studies are needed to determine the importance of the uropygial gland on bird fitness. It is important to understand whether preen oil affects breeding success (preferably measured as offspring recruitment) and/or survival prospects. It is surprising that there are few correlational studies analysing the relationship between reproductive success or survival with uropygial gland size, although Whittaker et al. (2013) showed that preen-oil composition is related to breeding success in dark-eyed juncos.

#### (2) The costs of preen-oil production

The assumption that the production of preen oil is costly lies at the centre of the idea that variation in preen oil impacts fitness. However, information on these costs is scarce. Since preen oil is likely the product of natural selection, and different species and populations will differ in their selective pressures, the chemical composition of preen oil as well as the mechanisms underlying its costliness are likely to vary among species and individuals. All species will face production costs, physiological costs, and time and energy-budget costs for the application on preen oil to plumage and eggs. However, the underlying causes of intraspecific variation in uropygial gland size or preen-oil composition have received very little attention, perhaps due to the difficulty of measuring uropygial gland size or preen oil volume.

Given that preen oil is composed of waxes, which are energy-rich, it seems plausible that its production is energetically costly. However, there is little available evidence. Uropygial gland size is positively correlated with body condition in house sparrows (Moreno-Rueda, 2010; Magallanes et al., 2016). Reneerkens, Piersma & Sinninghe Damsté (2007b) submitted red knots to different food-availability treatments. Food restriction subtly affected the capacity to produce diester waxes, which were presumably more costly to produce. Moreover, given that testosterone has an important role in regulating the activity of the uropygial gland (e.g. Whelan et al., 2010; Whittaker et al., 2011b), and is immunosuppressive, an immunological cost to preen-oil production is likely (Delhey et al., 2007). Piault et al. (2008) and Moreno-Rueda (2015) showed that inoculation of the antigen LPS reduced the size (or growth) of the uropygial gland in tawny owls and house sparrows, respectively. Similarly, infection with coccidians reduces uropygial gland size in house sparrows (Pap et al., 2013). Increased feather-degrading bacterial load in rock pigeons led to greater effort in preening, which resulted in reduced immune capacity (Leclaire et al., 2015). Therefore, it seems that there is a trade-off between mounting an immune response and producing preen oil.

Finally, uropygial gland secretions may be involved in various ways in courtship, by acting as pheromones or in the signalling function of colouration patches (see Section II.7). Such signals could evolve as Zahavian signals, carrying a handicap that guarantees their honesty (Searcy & Nowicki, 2005). Here, the cost of preen-oil production could guarantee the honesty of the signal (Delhey *et al.*, 2007). Some uropygial secretions contain carotenoids, and there may be costs involved in obtaining carotenoids and in the uptake, transport, metabolism and allocation of these pigments.

### (3) Trade-offs among different functions of preen oil

This review discusses many hypotheses on the role of uropygial gland secretions. Most of the proposed hypotheses remain to be validated, and some have been barely considered (e.g. the drag-reduction hypothesis). The hypotheses discussed are not mutually exclusive; it is possible that different functions of preen oil apply simultaneously in the same bird, meaning that there will be trade-offs between these different functions. For example, antimicrobial compounds may differ from pheromonal chemicals or colourants. Mating males may therefore face a trade-off between self-maintenance and reproduction. Seasonal variation in preen-oil composition or uropygial gland size may thus reflect how the optimal resolution of such trade-offs varies over the year. These potential trade-offs between different functions of preen oil remain completely unexplored, and deserve investigation. Only then will we fully understand the evolution of this organ.

#### **IV. CONCLUSIONS**

(1) Preen oil probably contributes to plumage maintenance, but we do not know whether this is due to a reduction in mechanical abrasion or feather degradation by keratinophilic organisms. Many studies have analysed the effect of preen oil on feather-degrading bacteria, but evidence for a function against pathogenic bacteria is mixed, as preen oil has been demonstrated to be effective against bacteria *in vitro*, but not *in vivo*. Studies on action against dermatophytes are scarce and only descriptive. There is no evidence of a function against chewing lice, nor that preen oil improves plumage through a positive effect on feather mites.

(2) It is not clear whether preen oil helps to combat pathogenic bacteria on eggshells, thus improving hatching success, as the available evidence is inconclusive.

(3) It seems clear that preen oil improves waterproofing, although more biophysical studies are necessary to establish whether preen oil contributes to water repellency or simply improves waterproofing by maintaining feather structure.

(4) Preen oil may have a function in flight (the drag-reduction hypothesis), but this awaits detailed investigation.

(5) There is evidence that the uropygial gland may allow the secretion of pollutants, but it is unclear whether this is adaptive or simply a consequence of preen oil being composed of waxes.

(6) A predator-repellent effect of preen oil in some species has been gathered only from anecdotal reports. The possibility that preen oil makes birds unpalatable has not been analysed, although one study reported a relationship between predation and uropygial gland size. It seems well supported that preen-oil composition varies over the breeding cycle to allow crypsis in some incubating birds (Scolopacidae and perhaps in Anatidae). The hypothesis of a function in camouflage, however, awaits investigation.

(7) More studies are necessary to analyse a possible impact of ectoparasites as a selective force in the evolution of uropygial secretions.

(8) A growing body of work now shows that preen oil can change plumage colouration. Preen oil might potentially affect colouration through its effect on feather-degrading bacteria. That bacteria can impact plumage colouration is clear, but the idea that preen oil acts in this way to alter plumage colour remains a hypothesis.

(9) Several studies show important implications of volatiles of preen oil in the social communication of birds. However, much work remains to be done, particularly to demonstrate that variation in preen-oil composition correlates with variation in mating success. Our understanding of the role of the different chemical compounds of preen oil in intraspecific communication is still poor. Its role in individual or species recognition remains controversial. There is no evidence that preen-oil functions in egg or nestling recognition.

(10) The impact of preen oil on fitness remains unknown. This information is fundamental to understanding its evolution.

(11) The costs or limitations to preen-oil production remain poorly known, despite their importance in understanding the evolution of uropygial gland secretions, especially in their hypothesised role in communication.

(12) Future studies should consider how trade-offs among different functions might drive the evolution of uropygial gland secretions.

(13) Our understanding of the uropygial gland is still in its infancy. Even for functions that are considered valid by most researchers, real evidence remains scarce.

#### V. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

David Nesbitt improved the English. Comments by Isabel López-Rull and an anonymous referee greatly improved the manuscript.

#### VI. REFERENCES

- ALLAN, S. A., BERNIER, U. R. & KLINE, D. L. (2006). Laboratory evaluation of avian odors for mosquito (Diptera: Culicidae) attraction. *Journal of Medical Entomology* 43, 225–231.
- AMAT, J. A., RENDÓN, M. A., GARRIDO-FERNÁNDEZ, J., GARRIDO, A., RENDÓN-MARTOS, M. & PÉREZ-GÁLVEZ, A. (2011). Greater flamingos *Phoenicopterus* roseus use uropygial secretions as make-up. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 65, 665–673.
- AMO, L., AVILÉS, J. M., PAREJO, D., PEÑA, A., RODRÍGUEZ, J. & TOMÁS, G. (2012). Sex recognition by odour and variation in the uropygial gland secretion in starlings. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 81, 605–613.
- AMO, L., TOMÁS, G., PAREJO, D. & AVILÉS, J. M. (2014). Are female starlings able to recognize the scent of their offspring? *PLoS ONE* 9, e109505.
- BAKKEN, G. S., BANTA, M. R., HIGGINBOTHAM, C. M. & LYNOTT, A. J. (2006). It's just ducky to be clean: the water repellency and water penetration resistance of swimming mallard *Anas platyrhynchos* ducklings. *Journal of Avian Biology* 37, 561–571.

BALTHAZART, J. & SCHOFFENIELS, E. (1979). Pheromones are involved in the control of sexual behaviour in birds. *Naturwissenschaften* **66**, 55–56.

- BALTHAZART, J. & TAZIAUX, M. (2009). The underestimated role of olfaction in avian reproduction? *Behavioral Brain Research* 200, 248–259.
- BANDYOPADHYAY, A. & BHATTACHARYYA, S. P. (1996). Influence of fowl uropygial gland and its secretory lipid components on growth of skin surface bacteria of fowl. *Indian Journal of Experimental Biology* 34, 48–52.
- BANDYOPADHYAY, A. & BHATTACHARYYA, S. P. (1999). Influence of fowl uropygial gland and its secretory lipid components on the growth of skin surface fungi of fowl. *Indian Journal of Experimental Biology* 37, 1218–1222.
- BENNETT, G. F., FALLIS, A. M. & CAMPBELL, A. G. (1972). The response of Simulium (Eusimulium) euryadminiculum (Davies) (Diptera: Simuliidae) to some olfactory and visual stimuli. Canadian Journal of Zoology 50, 793–800.
- BLANCO, G., TELLA, J. L., POTTI, J. & BAZ, A. (2001). Feather mites on birds: costs of parasitism or conditional outcomes? *Journal of Avian Biology* 32, 271–274.
- BONSER, R. H. C. (1995). Melanin and the abrasion resistance of feathers. *Condor* 97, 590-591.
- BURGER, B. V., REITER, B., BORZYK, O. & DU PLESSIS, M. A. (2004). Avian exocrine secretions. I. Chemical characterization of the volatile fraction of the uropygial secretion of the green woodhoopoe, *Phoeniculus purpureus. Journal of Chemical Ecology* 30, 1603–1611.

BURTT, E. H. Jr. & ICHIDA, J. M. (1999). Occurrence of feather-degrading bacilli in the plumage of birds. Auk 116, 364–372.

- BURTT, E. H. Jr. & ICHIDA, J. M. (2004). Gloger's rule, feather-degrading bacteria, and color variation among song sparrows. *Condor* 106, 681–686.
- CAMPAGNA, S., MARDON, J., CELERIER, A. & BONADONNA, F. (2012). Potential semiochemical molecules from birds: a practical and comprehensive compilation of the last 20 years studies. *Chemical Senses* 37, 3–25.
- CARO, T. (2005). Antipredator Defenses in Birds and Manimals. The University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- CARO, S. P. & BALTHAZART, J. (2010). Pheromones in birds: myth or reality? Journal of Comparative Physiology A 196, 751–766.
- CLARK, G. A. Jr. (2004). Form and function: the external bird. In *Handbook of Bird Biology* (eds S. PODULKA, R. W. ROHRBAUGH Jr. and R. BONNEY), pp. 3:1-3:70. Cornell Lab of Ornithology and Princeton University Press, New York.
- CLAYTON, D. H., KOOP, J. A. H., HARBISON, C. W., MOYER, B. R. & BUSH, S. E. (2010). How birds combat ectoparasites. *The Open Ornithology Journal* 3, 41–71.
- CLAYTON, D. H., LEE, P. L. M., TOMPKINS, D. M. & BRODIE, E. D. III (1999). Reciprocal natural selection on host-parasite phenotypes. *American Naturalist* 154, 261–270.
- CLAYTON, D. H., MOYER, B. R., BUSH, S. E., JONES, T. G., GARDINER, D. W., RHODES, B. & GOLLER, F. (2005). Adaptive significance of avian beak morphology for ectoparasite control. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 272, 811–817.
- COOK, M. I., BEISSINGER, S. R., TORANZOS, G. A. & ARENDT, W. J. (2005*a*). Incubation reduces microbial growth on eggshells and the opportunity for trans-shell infection. *Ecology Letters* **8**, 532–537.
- COOK, M. I., BEISSINGER, S. R., TORANZOS, G. A. & ARENDT, W. J. (2005b). Microbial infection affects egg viability and incubation behavior in a tropical passerine. *Behavioral Ecology* 16, 30–36.
- COOK, M. I., BEISSINGER, S. R., TORANZOS, G. A., RODRIGUEZ, R. A. & ARENDT, W. J. (2003). Trans-shell infection by pathogenic microorganisms reduces the shelf life of non-incubated bird's eggs: a constraint on the onset of incubation? *Proceedings* of the Royal Society B 270, 2233–2240.
- CZIRJÁK, G. A., PAP, P. L., VÁGÁSI, C. I., GIRAUDEAU, M., MUREÇAN, C., MIRLEAU, P. & HEEB, P. (2013). Preen gland removal increases plumage bacterial load but not that of feather-degrading bacteria. *Naturwissenschaften* **100**, 145–151.
- DELHEY, K., PETERS, A., BIEDERMANN, P. H. W. & KEMPENAERS, B. (2008). Optical properties of the uropygial gland secretion: no evidence for UV cosmetics in birds. *Naturevissenschaften* 95, 939–946.
- DELHEY, K., PETERS, A. & KEMPENAERS, B. (2007). Cosmetic coloration in birds: occurrence, function, and evolution. *American Naturalist* 169, S145–S158.
- DOUGLAS, H. D. III, MALENKE, J. R. & CLAYTON, D. H. (2005). Is the citrus-like plumage odorant of crested auklets (*Aethia cristatella*) a defense against lice? *Journal of Omithology* 146, 111–115.
- DUMBACHER, J. P. (1999). Evolution of toxicity in *Pitohuis*: I. Effects of homobatrachotoxin on chewing lice (order Phthiraptera). Auk 116, 957–963.
- DUMBACHER, J. P., BEEHLER, B. M., SPANDE, T. F., GARRAFFO, H. M. & DALY, J. W. (1992). Homobatrachotoxin in the genus *Pitohui*: chemical defense in birds? *Science* 258, 799–801.
- DUMBACHER, J. P. & PRUETT-JONES, S. (1996). Avian chemical defense. Current Ornithology 13, 137–174.
- ELDER, W. H. (1954). The oil gland of birds. Wilson Bulletin 66, 6-31.
- EULAERS, I., COVACI, A., HOFMAN, J., NYGÅRD, T., HALLEY, D. J., PINXTEN, R., EENS, M. & JASPERS, V. L. B. (2011). A comparison of non-destructive sampling strategies to assess the exposure of white-tailed eagle nestlings (*Haliaeetus albicilla*) to persistent organic pollutants. *Science of the Total Environment* **410-411**, 258–265.
- FALLIS, A. M. & SMITH, S. M. (1964). Ether extracts from birds and carbon dioxide as attractants for some ornithophilic simuliids. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 42, 723–730.
- FISH, F. & LAUNDER, G. (2006). Passive and active flow control by swimming fishes and mammals. *Annual Review of Fluid Mechanics* 38, 193–224.
- FRANK, R., LUMSDEN, H., BARR, J. F. & BRAUN, H. E. (1983). Residues of organochlorine insecticides, industrial chemicals, and mercury in eggs and in tissues taken from healthy and emaciated common loons, Ontario, Canada, 1968–1980. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 12, 641–653.
- FÜLÖP, A., CZIRJÁK, G. A., PAP, P. L. & VÁGÁSI, C. I. (2016). Feather-degrading bacteria, uropygial gland size and feather quality in House Sparrows *Passer domesticus*. *Ibis* 158, 362–370.
- GALVÁN, I. (2011). No effect of uropygial gland secretion on hatching success in great tits Parus major. Revue d'Ecologie 66, 93–97.
- GALVÁN, I., AGUILERA, E., ATIÉNZAR, F., BARBA, E., BLANCO, G., CANTÓ, J. L., CORTÉS, V., FRÍAS, O., KOVÁCS, I., MELÉNDEZ, L., MØLLER, A. P., MONRÓS, J. S., PAP, P. L., PICULO, R., SENAR, J. C., SERRANO, D., TELLA, J. L., VÁGÁSI, C. I., VÖGELI, M. & JOVANI, R. (2012). Feather mites (Acari: Astigmata) and body condition of their avian hosts: a large correlative study. *Journal of Avian Biology* 43, 273–279.
- GALVÁN, I., BARBA, E., PICULO, R., CANTÓ, J. L., CORTÉS, V., MONRÓS, J. S., ATIÉNZAR, F. & PROCTOR, H. (2008). Feather mites and birds: an interaction mediated by uropygial gland size? *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 21, 133–144.

- GALVÁN, I. & MØLLER, A. P. (2013). Odor transmission and olfaction: the tuft of the uropygial gland and olfactory ability in birds. *Condor* 115, 693–699.
- GALVÁN, I. & SANZ, J. J. (2006). Feather mite abundance increases with uropygial gland size and plumage yellowness in Great Tits *Parus major. Ibis* 148, 687–697.
- GIRAUDEAU, M., CZIRJÁK, G. A., DUVAL, C., BRETAGNOLLE, V., ERAUD, C., MCGRAW, K. J. & HEEB, P. (2010a). Effect of restricted preen-gland access on maternal self maintenance and reproductive investment in mallards. *PLoS ONE* 5, e13555.
- GIRAUDEAU, M., DUVAL, C., GUILLON, N., BRETAGNOLLE, V., GUTIERREZ, C. & HEEB, P. (2010b). Effects of access to preen gland secretions on mallard plumage. *Naturwissenschaften* 97, 577–581.
- GIRAUDEAU, M., CZIRJÁK, G. A., DUVAL, C., BRETAGNOLLE, V., GUTIERREZ, J., GUILLON, N. & HEEB, P. (2013). Effect of preen oil on plumage bacteria: an experimental test with the mallard. *Behavioural Processes* 92, 1–5.
- GIRAUDEAU, M., CZIRJÁK, G. A., DUVAL, C., BRETAGNOLLE, V., GUTIERREZ, C. & HEEB, P. (2014). An experimental test in Mallards (*Anas platythynchos*) of the effect of incubation and maternal preen oil on eggshell microbial load. *Journal of Ornithology* 155, 671–677.
- GOLDSTEIN, G., FLORY, K. R., BROWNE, B. A., MAJID, S., ICHIDA, J. M. & BURTT, E. H. Jr. (2004). Bacterial degradation of black and white feathers. *Auk* 121, 656–659.
- GRANDE, J. M., NEGRO, J. J. & TORRES, M. J. (2004). The evolution of bird plumage colouration: a role for feather-degrading bacteria? Arteola 51, 375–383.
- GRIGGIO, M., BIARD, C., PENN, D. J. & HOI, H. (2011). Female house sparrows "count on" male genes: experimental evidence for MHC-dependent mate preference in birds. *BMC Evolutionary Biology* 11, 44.
- GRUBB, T. C. (1974). Olfactory navigation to the nesting burrow in Leach's petrel (Oceanodroma leucorrhoa). Animal Behaviour 22, 192–202.
- GUNDERSON, A. R. (2008). Feather-degrading bacteria: a new frontier in avian and host-parasite research? Auk 125, 972–979.
- GUNDERSON, A. R., FORSYTH, M. H. & SWADDLE, J. P. (2009). Evidence that plumage bacteria influence feather coloration and body condition of eastern bluebirds *Sialia sialis*. *Journal of Avian Biology* **40**, 440–447.
- GUNDERSON, A. R., FRAME, A. M., SWADDLE, J. P. & FORSYTH, M. H. (2008). Resistance of melanized feathers to bacterial degradation: is it really so black and white? *Journal of Avian Biology* 39, 539–545.
- GUTIÉRREZ, A. M., MONTALTI, D., REBOREDO, G. R., SALIBIÁN, A. & CATALÁ, A. (1998). Lindane distribution and fatty acid profiles of uropygial gland and liver of *Columba livia* after pesticide treatment. *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology* 59, 137–141.
- HAGELIN, J. C. (2007). Odors and chemical signaling. In *Reproductive Behaviour and Phylogeny of Aves* (Volume 6B, ed. B. G. JAMIESON), pp. 76–119. Science Publishers, Enfield.
- HAGELIN, J. C. & JONES, I. L. (2007). Bird odors and other chemical substances: a defense mechanism or overlooked mode of intraspecific communication? *Auk* 124, 741–761.
- HARIBAL, M., DHONDT, A. A., ROSANE, D. & RODRIGUEZ, E. (2005). Chemistry of preen gland secretions of passerines: different pathways to same goal? Why? *Chemoecology* 15, 251–260.
- HILL, G. E. & MCGRAW, K. J. (2006). *Bird Coloration*. Harvard University Press, Boston. HIRAO, A., AOYAMA, M. & SUGITA, S. (2009). The role of uropygial gland on sexual
- behavior in domestic chicken Gallus gallus domesticus. Behavioural Processes 80, 115–120.
- JACOB, J., BALTHAZART, J. & SCHOFFENIELS, E. (1979). Sex differences in the chemical composition of uropygial gland waxes in domestic ducks. *Biochemical Systematics and Ecology* 7, 149–153.
- JACOB, J., EIGENER, U. & HOPPE, U. (1997). The structure of preen gland waxes from pelecaniform birds containing 3,7-dimethyloctan-1-ol – An active ingredient against dermatophytes. *Zeitschrift für Naturforschung C* 52, 114–123.
- JACOB, S., IMMER, A., LECLAIRE, S., PARTHUISOT, N., DUCAMP, C., ESPINASSE, G. & HEEB, P. (2014). Uropygial gland size and composition varies according to experimentally modified microbiome in Great tits. *BMC Evolutionary Biology* 14, 134.
- JACOB, J. & ZISWILER, W. (1982). The uropygial gland. In Avian Biology (Volume VII, eds D. S. FAMER, J. R. KING and K. C. PARKER), pp. 359–362. Academic Press, New York.
- JASPERS, V. L. B., HERZKE, D., EULAERS, I., GILLESPIE, B. W. & EENS, M. (2013). Perfluoroalkyl substances in soft tissues and tail feathers of Belgian barn owls (*Tyto alba*) using statistical methods for left-censored data to handle non-detects. *Environment International* 52, 9–16.
- JOHANSSON, B. G. & JONES, T. M. (2007). The role of chemical communication in mate choice. *Biological Reviews* 82, 265–289.
- JOHNSTON, D. W. (1976). Organochlorine pesticide residues in uropygial glands and adipose tissue of wild birds. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 16, 149–155.
- JOHNSTON, D. W. (1988). A morphological atlas of the avian uropygial gland. Bulletin of the British Museum (Natural History) 54, 1–259.
- KOLATTUKUDY, P. E., BOHNET, S. & ROGERS, L. (1985). Disappearance of short chain acids from the preen gland wax of male mallard ducks during eclipse. *Journal* of Lipid Research 26, 989–994.

- KOLATTUKUDY, P. E., BOHNET, S. & ROGERS, L. (1987). Diesters of 3-hydroxy fatty acids produced by the uropygial glands of female mallards uniquely during the mating season. *Journal of Lipid Research* 28, 582–588.
- KRIST, M. (2011). Egg size and offspring quality: a meta-analysis in birds. Biological Reviews 86, 692–716.
- LAW-BROWN, J. & MEYERS, P. R. (2003). Enterococcus phoeniculicola sp. nov., a novel member of the enterococci isolated from the uropygial gland of the Red-billed Woodhoopoe, Phoeniculus purpureus. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 53, 683–685.
- LAWLER, G. C., LOONG, W. A. & LASETER, J. L. (1978). Accumulation of aromatic hydrocarbons in tissues of petroleum-exposed mallard ducks (*Anas platyrhynchos*). *Environmental Science and Technology* **12**, 51–54.
- LECLAIRE, S., CZIRJÁK, G. A., HAMMOUDA, A. & GASPARINI, J. (2015). Feather bacterial load shapes the trade-off between preening and immunity in pigeons. *BMC Evolutionary Biology* 15, 60.
- LECLAIRE, S., MERKLING, T., RAYNAUD, C., GIACINTI, G., BESSIÈRE, J. M., HATCH, S. A. & DANCHIN, E. (2011). An individual and a sex odor signature in kittiwakes? Study of the semiochemical composition of preen secretion and preen down feathers. *Naturwissenschaften* 98, 615–624.
- LECLAIRE, S., MERKLING, T., RAYNAUD, C., MULARD, H., BESSIÈRE, J. M., LHUILLIER, É., HATCH, S. A. & DANCHIN, E. (2012). Semiochemical compounds of preen secretion reflect genetic make-up in a seabird species. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 279, 1185–1193.
- LECLAIRE, S., PAULINE, P., CHATELAIN, M. & GASPARINI, J. (2014a). Feather bacterial load affects plumage condition, iridescent color, and investment in preening in pigcons. *Behavioral Ecology* 25, 1192–1198.
- LECLAIRE, S., VAN DONGEN, W. F., VOCCIA, S., MERKLING, T., DUCAMP, C., HATCH, S. A., BLANCHARD, P., DANCHIN, É. & WAGNER, R. H. (2014b). Preen secretions encode information on MHC similarity in certain sex-dyads in a monogamous seabird. *Scientific Reports* **4**, 6920.
- LIGON, J. D. & LIGON, S. H. (1978). The communal social system of the green woodhoopoe in Kenya. *Living Bird* 16, 159–197.
- LÓPEZ-RULL, I., PAGÁN, I. & MACÍAS GARCÍA, C. M. (2010). Cosmetic enhancement of signal coloration: experimental evidence in the house finch. *Behavioral Ecology* 21, 781–787.
- MADEC, I., GABARROU, J. F., SAFFRAY, D. & PAGEAT, P. (2008). Broilers (Gallus gallus) are less stressed if they can smell a mother odorant. South African Journal of Animal Science 38, 201–206.
- MAGALLANES, S., MØLLER, A. P., GARCÍA-LONGORIA, L., DE LOPE, F. & MARZAL, A. (2016). Volume and antimicrobial activity of secretions of the uropygial gland are correlated with malaria infection in house sparrows. *Parasites & Vectors* 9, 232.
- MARDON, J., SAUNDERS, S. M., ANDERSON, M. J., COUCHOUX, C. & BONADONNA, F. (2010). Species, gender, and identity: cracking petrels' sociochemical code. *Chemical Senses* 35, 309–321.
- MARDON, J., SAUNDERS, S. M. & BONADONNA, F. (2011). From preen secretions to plumage: the chemical trajectory of blue petrels' *Halobaena caerulea* social scent. *Journal of Avian Biology* 42, 29–38.
- MARTÍNEZ DE LA PUENTE, J., RIVERO DE AGUILAR, J., DEL CERRO, S., ARGÜELLO, A. & MERINO, S. (2011). Do secretions from the uropygial gland of birds attract biting midges and black flies? *Parasitology Research* **109**, 1715–1718.
- MARTÍNEZ-GARCÍA, Á., SOLER, J. J., RODRÍGUEZ-RUANO, S. M., MARTÍNEZ-BUENO, M., MARTÍN-PLATERO, A. M., JUÁREZ-GARCÍA, N. & MARTÍN-VIVALDI, M. (2015). Preening as a vehicle for key bacteria in hoopoes. *Microbial Ecology* **70**, 1024–1033.
- MARTÍN-PLATERO, A. M., VALDIVIA, E., RUÍZ-RODRÍGUEZ, M., SOLER, J. J., MARTÍN-VIVALDI, M., MAQUEDA, M. & MARTÍNEZ-BUENO, M. (2006). Characterization of antimicrobial substances produced by *Enterococcus faecalis* MRR 10-3, isolated from the uropygial gland of the hoopoe (*Upupa epops*). Applied and Environmental Microbiology **72**, 4245–4249.
- MARTÍN-VIVALDI, M., PEÑA, A., PERALTA-SÁNCHEZ, J. M., SÁNCHEZ, L., ANANOU, S., RUIZ-RODRÍGUEZ, M. & SOLER, J. J. (2010). Antimicrobial chemicals in hoopoe preen secretions are produced by symbiotic bacteria. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 277, 123–130.
- MARTÍN-VIVALDI, M., RUIZ-RODRÍGUEZ, M., SOLER, J. J., PERALTA-SÁNCHEZ, J. M., MÉNDEZ, M., VALDIVIA, E., MARTÍN-PLATERO, A. M. & MARTÍNEZ-BUENO, M. (2009). Seasonal, sexual and developmental differences in hoopoe Upupa epops preen gland morphology and secretions: evidence for a role of bacteria. Journal of Avian Biology 40, 191–205.
- MARTÍN-VIVALDI, M., SOLER, J. J., PERALTA-SÁNCHEZ, J. M., ARCO, L., MARTÍN-PLATERO, A. M., MARTÍNEZ-BUENO, M., RUIZ-RODRÍGUEZ, M. & VALDIVIA, E. (2014). Special structures of hoopoe eggshells enhance the adhesion of symbiont-carrying uropygial secretion that increase hatching success. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 83, 1289–1301.
- MØLLER, A. P. (1991). Parasites, sexual ornaments and mate choice in the barn swallow Hirundo rustica. In Ecology, Behavior and Evolution of Bird-parasite Interactions (eds J. E. LOYE and M. ZUK), pp. 328–343. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- MØLLER, A. P., CZIRJÁK, G. A. & HEEB, P. (2009). Feather micro-organisms and uropygial antimicrobial defences in a colonial passerine bird. *Functional Ecology* 23, 1097–1102.

- MØLLER, A. P. & ERRITZØE, J. (1996). Parasite virulence and host immune defense: host immune response is related to nest re-use in birds. *Evolution* 50, 2066–2072.
- MøLLER, A. P., ERRITZØE, J. & NIELSEN, J. T. (2010a). Predators and microorganisms of prey: goshawks prefer prey with small uropygial glands. *Functional Ecology* 24, 608–613.
- MØLLER, A. P., ERRITZØE, J. & RÓZSA, L. (2010b). Ectoparasites, uropygial glands and hatching success in birds. Oecologia 163, 303–311.
- MONTALTI, D. & SALIBIÁN, A. (2000). Uropygial gland size and avian habitat. Ornitologia Neotropical 11, 297–306.
- MONTGOMERIE, R. (2006). Cosmetic and adventitious colors. In *Bird Coloration, Function and Evolution* (Volume II, eds G. E. HILL and K. J. MCGRAW), pp. 399–430. Harvard University Press, Boston.
- MORENO, J. & OSORNO, J. L. (2003). Avian egg colour and sexual selection: does eggshell pigmentation reflect female condition and genetic quality? *Ecology Letters* 6, 803–806.
- MORENO-RUEDA, G. (2010). Uropygial gland size correlates with feather holes, body condition and wingbar size in the house sparrow *Passer domesticus*. *Journal of Avian Biology* 41, 229–236.
- MORENO-RUEDA, G. (2011). House sparrows Passer domesticus with larger uropygial glands show reduced feather wear. *Ibis* 153, 195–198.
- MORENO-RUEDA, G. (2014). Uropygial gland size, feather holes and moult performance in the house sparrow Passer domesticus. Ibis 156, 457–460.
- MORENO-RUEDA, G. (2015). Body-mass-dependent trade-off between immune response and uropygial gland size in house sparrows *Passer domesticus*. *Journal of Avian Biology* 46, 40–45.
- MORENO-RUEDA, G. (2016). Uropygial gland and bib colouration in the house sparrow. *Peer*<sup>7</sup> 4, c2102.
- MOYER, B. R., ROCK, A. N. & CLAYTON, D. H. (2003). Experimental test of the importance of preen oil in Rock Doves (*Columba livia*). Auk **120**, 490–496.
- OTT, B., MÜSSE, A. & WAGNER, H. (2016). The impact of uropygial gland secretions on mechanically induced wearing of barn owl and pigcon body feathers. In *Proceedings* of the SPIE, Bioinspiration, Biomimetics, and Bioreplication (R. J. MARTÍN-PALMA, A. LAKHTAKIA, M. KNEZ), Las Vegas, Nevada, United States, 97970R.
- PAP, P. L., VÁGÁSI, C. I., BÁRBOS, L. & MARTON, A. (2013). Chronic coccidian infestation compromises flight feather quality in house sparrows Passer domesticus. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 108, 414–428.
- PAP, P. L., VÁGÁSI, C. I., OSVÁTH, G., MUREÇAN, C. & BARTA, Z. (2010). Seasonality in the uropygial gland size and feather mite abundance in house sparrows *Passer* domesticus: natural covariation and an experiment. *Journal of Avian Biology* 41, 653-661.
- PÉREZ-RODRÍGUEZ, L., MOUGEOT, F. & BORTOLOTTI, G. R. (2011). The effect of preen oils and soiling on the UV-visible reflectance of carotenoid-pigmented feathers. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* **65**, 1425–1435.
- PIAULT, R., GASPARINI, J., BIZE, P., PAULET, M., MCGRAW, K. J. & ROULIN, A. (2008). Experimental support for the makeup hypothesis in nestling tawny owls (*Strix aluco*). *Behavioral Ecology* **19**, 703–709.
- PIERSMA, T., DEKKER, M. & SINNINGHE DAMSTÉ, J. S. (1999). An avian equivalent of make-up? *Ecology Letters* 2, 201–203.
- PRICE, R. D., HELLENTHAL, R. A., PALMA, R. L., JOHNSON, K. P. & CLAYTON, D. H. (2003). *The Chewing Lice: World Checklist and Biological Overview*. Illinois Natural History Survey, Springfield, Illinois, USA.
- PROCTOR, H. (2003). Feather mites (Acari: Astigmata): ecology, behaviour, and evolution. Annual Reviews of Entomology 48, 185–209.
- PUGH, G. J. F. & EVANS, M. D. (1970). Keratinophilic fungi associated with birds. II. Physiological studies. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society* 54, 241–250.
- RAJCHARD, J. (2007). Intraspecific and interspecific chemosignals in birds: a review. Veterinární Medicína 52, 385–391.
- RAJCHARD, J. (2010). Biologically active substances of bird skin: a review. Veterinámí Medicina 55, 413–421.
- RENEERKENS, J., ALMEIDA, J. B., LANK, D. B., JUKEMA, J., LANCTOT, R. B., MORRISON, R. G., RIJPSTRA, W. I. C., SCHAMEL, D., SCHEKKERMAN, H., SINNINGHE DAMSTÉ, J. S., TOMKOVICH, P. S., TRACY, D. M., TULP, I. & PIERSMA, T. (2007*a*). Parental role division predicts avian preen wax cycles. *Ibis* 149, 721–729.
- RENEERKENS, J., PIERSMA, T. & SINNINGHE DAMSTÉ, J. S. (2007b). Expression of annual cycles in preen wax composition in red knots: constraints on the changing phenotype. *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological Genetics and Physiology* 307, 127–139.
- RENEERKENS, J. & KORSTEN, P. (2004). Plumage reflectance is not affected by preen wax composition in Red Knots Calidris canutus. Journal of Avian Biology 35, 405–409.
- RENEERKENS, J., PIERSMA, T. & SINNINGHE DAMSTÉ, J. S. (2002). Sandpipers (Scolopacidae) switch from monoester to diester preen waxes during courtship and incubation, but why? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 269, 2135–2139.
- RENEERKENS, J., PIERSMA, T. & SINNINGHE DAMSTÉ, J. S. (2005). Switch to diester preen waxes may reduce avian nest predation by mammalian predators using olfactory cues. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 208, 4199–4202.
- RENEERKENS, J., VERSTEEGH, M. A., SCHNEIDER, A. M., PIERSMA, T. & BURTT, E. H. Jr. (2008). Seasonally changing preen-wax composition: red knots' (*Calidris canutus*) flexible defense against feather-degrading bacteria? *Auk* 125, 285–290.

ROPER, T. J. (1999). Olfaction in birds. Advances in the Study of Behavior 28, 247-332.

- ROULIN, A. (2007). Melanin pigments negatively correlates with plumage preening effort in barn owls. *Functional Ecology* **21**, 264–271.
- RUIZ-DE-CASTAÑEDA, R., BURTT, E. H. Jr., GONZÁLEZ-BRAOJOS, S. & MORENO, J. (2012). Bacterial degradability of an infrafeather unmelanized ornament: a role for feather-degrading bacteria in sexual selection? *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 105, 409–419.
- RUIZ-DE-CASTAÑEDA, R., VELAB, A. I., GONZÁLEZ-BRAOJOS, S., BRIONES, V. & MORENO, J. (2011). Drying eggs to inhibit bacteria: incubation during laying in a cavity nesting passerine. *Behavioural Processes* 88, 142–148.
- RUIZ-RODRÍGUEZ, M., MARTÍNEZ-BUENO, M., MARTÍN-VIVALDI, M., VALDIVIA, E. & SOLER, J. J. (2013). Bacteriocins with a broader antimicrobial spectrum prevail in enterococcal symbionts isolated from the hoopoe's uropygial gland. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 85, 495–502.
- RUIZ-RODRÍGUEZ, M., TOMÁS, G., MARTÍN-GÁLVEZ, D., RUIZ-CASTELLANO, C. & SOLER, J. J. (2015). Bacteria and the evolution of honest signals. The case of ornamental throat feathers in spotless starlings. *Functional Ecology* 29, 701–709.
- RUIZ-RODRÍGUEZ, M., VALDIVIA, E., MARTÍN-VIVALDI, M., MARTÍN-PLATERO, A. M., MARTÍNEZ-BUENO, M., MÉNDEZ, M., PERALTA-SÁNCHEZ, J. M. & SOLER, J. J. (2012). Antimicrobial activity and genetic profile of enteroccoci isolated from hoopoes uropygial gland. *PLoS ONE* 7, e41843.
- RUIZ-RODRÍGUEZ, M., VALDIVIA, E., SOLER, J. J., MARTÍN-VIVALDI, M., MARTÍN-PLATERO, A. M. & MARTÍNEZ-BUENO, M. (2009). Symbiotic bacteria living in the hoopoe's uropygial gland prevent feather degradation. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 212, 3621–3626.
- RUSSELL, C. B. & HUNTER, F. F. (2005). Attraction of *Culex pipiens/restuans* (Diptera: Culicidae) mosquitoes to bird uropygial gland odors at two elevations in the Niagara region of Ontario. *Journal of Medical Entomology* 42, 301–305.
- SAAG, P., MÄND, R., TILGAR, V., KILGAS, P., MÄGI, M. & RASMANN, E. (2011). Plumage bacterial load is related to species, sex, biometrics and fledging success in co-occurring cavity-breeding passerines. *Acta Omithologica* **46**, 191–201.
- SAINO, N., ROMANO, M., CAPRIOLI, M., RUBOLINI, D. & AMBROSINI, R. (2011). Yolk carotenoids have sex-dependent effects on redox status and influence the resolution of growth trade-offs in yellow-legged gull chicks. *Behavioral Ecology* 22, 411–421.
- SALIBIAN, A. & MONTALTI, D. (2009). Physiological and biochemical aspects of the avian uropygial gland. *Brazilian Journal of Biology* 69, 437–446.
- SCHMID-HEMPEL, P. (2011). Evolutionary Parasitology: The Integrated Study of Infections, Immunology, Ecology, and Genetics. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- SEARCY, W. A. & NOWICKI, S. (2005). The Evolution of Animal Communication. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- SHAWKEY, M. D., PILLAI, S. R. & HILL, G. E. (2003). Chemical warfare? Effects of uropygial oil on feather-degrading bacteria. *Journal of Avian Biology* 34, 345–349.
- SHAWKEY, M. D., PILLAI, S. R. & HILL, G. E. (2009). Do feather-degrading bacteria affect sexually selected plumage color? *Naturwissenschaften* 96, 123–128.
- SHAWKEY, M. D., PILLAI, S. R., HILL, G. E., SIEFFERMAN, L. & ROBERTS, S. R. (2007). Bacteria as an agent for change in structural plumage color: correlational and experimental evidence. *American Naturalist* 169, S112–S121.
- SOINI, H. A., SCHROCK, S. E., BRUCE, K. E., WIESLER, D., KETTERSON, E. D. & NOVOTNY, M. V. (2007). Seasonal variation in volatile compound profiles of preen gland secretions of the dark-eyed junco (*Junco hyemalis*). *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 33, 183–198.
- SOINI, H. A., WHITTAKER, D. J., WIESLER, D., KETTERSON, E. D. & NOVOTNY, M. V. (2013). Chemosignaling diversity in songbirds: chromatographic profiling of preen oil volatiles in different species. *Journal of Chromatography A* 1317, 186–192.
- SOLER, J. J., MARTÍN-VIVALDI, M., PERALTA-SÁNCHEZ, J. M., ARCO, L. & JUÁREZ-GARCÍA-PELAYO, N. (2014a). Hoopoes color their eggs with antimicrobial uropygial secretions. *Naturvissenschaften* **101**, 697–705.
- SOLER, J. J., PÉREZ-CONTRERAS, T., DE NEVE, L., MACÍAS-SÁNCHEZ, E., MØLLER, A. P. & SOLER, M. (2014b). Recognizing odd smells and ejection of brood parasitic eggs. An experimental test in magpies of a novel defensive trait against brood parasitism. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 27, 1265–1270.
- SOLER, J. J., MARTÍN-VIVALDI, M., PERALTA-SÁNCHEZ, J. M. & RUIZ-RODRÍGUEZ, M. (2010). Antibiotic-producing bacteria as a possible defence of birds against pathogenic microorganisms. Open Omithology Journal 3, 93–100.
- SOLER, J. J., MARTÍN-VIVALDI, M., RUIZ-RODRÍGUEZ, M., VALDIVIA, E., MARTÍN-PLATERO, A. M., MARTÍNEZ-BUENO, M., PERALTA-SÁNCHEZ, J. M. & MÉNDEZ, M. (2008). Symbiotic association between hoopoes and antibiotic-producing bacteria that live in their uropygial gland. *Functional Ecology* 22, 864-871.
- SOLER, J. J., PERALTA-SÁNCHEZ, J. M., MARTÍN-PLATERO, A. M., MARTÍN-VIVALDI, M., MARTÍNEZ-BUENO, M. & MØLLER, A. P. (2012). The evolution of size of the uropygial gland: mutualistic feather mites and uropygial secretion reduce bacterial

loads of eggshells and hatching failures of European birds. Journal of Evolutionary Biology 25, 1779–1791.

- SURMACKI, A. (2008). Preen waxes do not protect carotenoid plumage from bleaching by sunlight. *Ibis* 150, 335–341.
- SURMACKI, A. & NOWAKOWSKI, J. K. (2007). Soil and preen waxes influence the expression of carotenoid-based plumage coloration. *Naturwissenschaften* 94, 829–835.
- SWEENEY, R. J., LOVETTE, I. J. & HARVEY, E. L. (2004). Evolutionary variation in feather waxes of passerine birds. Auk 121, 435–445.
- THOMAS, R. H., PRICE, E. R., SEEWAGEN, C. L., MACKENZIE, S. A., BERNARDS, M. A. & GUGLIELMO, C. G. (2010). Use of TLC-FID and GC-MS/FID to examine the effects of migratory state, diet and captivity on preen wax composition in white-throated sparrows *Zonotrichia albicollis*. *Ibis* 152, 782–792.
- TUTTLE, E. M., SEBASTIAN, P. J., POSTO, A. L., SOINI, H. A., NOVOTNY, M. V. & GONSER, R. A. (2014). Variation in preen oil composition pertaining to season, sex, and genotype in the polymorphic white-throated sparrow. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 40, 1025–1038.
- VÁGÁSI, C. I. (2014). The origin of feather holes: a word of caution. Journal of Avian Biology 41, 431–436.
- VAS, Z., CSÖRGÖ, T., MØLLER, A. P. & RÓZSA, L. (2008). The feather holes on the barn swallow *Hirundo rustica* and other small passerines are probably caused by *Brueelia* spp. lice. *Journal of Parasitology* **94**, 1438–1440.
- VINCZE, O., VÁGÁSI, C. I., KOVÁCS, I., GALVÁN, I. & PAP, P. L. (2013). Sources of variation in uropygial gland size in European birds. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 110, 543–563.
- VIOQUE, J. & KOLATTUKUDY, P. E. (1997). Resolution and purification of an aldehyde-generating and an alcohol-generating fatty acyl-CoA reductase from pea leaves (*Pisum sativum L.*). Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 340, 64–72.
- WALTHER, B. A. & CLAYTON, D. H. (2005). Elaborate ornaments are costly to maintain: evidence for high maintenance handicaps. *Behavioral Ecology* 16, 89–95.
- WANG, J. M. & BEISSINGER, S. R. (2011). Partial incubation in birds: its occurrence, function, and quantification. Auk 128, 454–466.
- WHELAN, R. J., LEVIN, T. C., OWEN, J. C. & GARVIN, M. C. (2010). Short-chain carboxylic acids from gray catbird (*Dumetella carolinensis*) uropygial secretions vary with testosterone levels and photoperiod. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part* B 156, 183–188.
- WHITTAKER, D. J., GERLACH, N. M., SOINI, H. A., NOVOTNY, M. V. & KETTERSON, E. D. (2013). Bird odour predicts reproductive success. *Animal Behaviour* 86, 697–703.
- WHITTAKER, D. J., REICHARD, D. G., DAPPER, A. L. & KETTERSON, E. D. (2009). Behavioral responses of nesting female dark-eyed juncos *Junco hyemalis* to heteroand conspecific passerine preen oils. *Journal of Avian Biology* 40, 579–583.
- WHITTAKER, D. J., REICHARD, D. G., DROUILLY, M., BATTLE, K. & ZIEGENFUS, C. (2015). Avian olfactory displays: a hypothesis for the function of bill-wiping in a social context. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* **69**, 159–167.
- WHITTAKER, D. J., RICHMOND, K. M., MILLER, A. K., KILEV, R., BERGEON BURNS, C., ATWELL, J. W. & KETTERSON, E. D. (2011a). Intraspecific preen oil odor preferences in dark-eyed juncos (*Junco hyemalis*). *Behavioral Ecology* 22, 1256–1263.
- WHITTAKER, D. J., SOINI, H. A., GERLACH, N. M., POSTO, A. L., NOVOTNY, M. V. & KETTERSON, E. D. (2011b). Role of testosterone in stimulating seasonal changes in a potential avian chemosignal. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 37, 1349–1357.
- WHITTAKER, D. J., SOINI, H. A., ATWELL, J. W., HOLLARS, C., NOVOTNY, M. V. & KETTERSON, E. D. (2010). Songbird chemosignals: volatile compounds in preen gland secretions vary among individuals, sexes, and populations. *Behavioral Ecology* 21, 608–614.
- YAMASHITA, R., TAKADA, H., MURAKAMI, M., FUKUWAKA, M. A. & WATANUKI, Y. (2007). Evaluation of noninvasive approach for monitoring PCB pollution of seabirds using preen gland oil. *Environmental Science and Technology* 41, 4901–4906.
- ZELANO, B. & EDWARDS, S. V. (2002). An *Mhc* component to kin recognition and mate choice in birds: predictions, progress, and prospects. *American Naturalist* 160, S225–S237.
- ZEMAN, P. (1988). Surface skin lipids of birds a proper host kairomone and feeding inducer in the poultry red mite, *Dermanyssus gallinae*. *Experimental and Applied Acarology* 5, 163–173.
- ZHANG, Y.-H., DU, Y.-F. & ZHANG, J.-X. (2013). Uropygial gland volatives facilitate species recognition between two sympatric sibling bird species. *Behavioral Ecology* 24, 1271–1278.
- ZHANG, J.-X., SUN, L. & ZUO, M.-X. (2009). Uropygial gland volatiles may code for olfactory information about sex, individual, and species in Bengalese finches *Lonchura striata*. *Current Zoology* 55, 357–365.
- ZHANG, J.-X., WEI, W., ZHANG, J.-H. & YANG, W.-H. (2010). Uropygial gland-secreted alkalols contribute to olfactory sex signals in budgerigars. *Chemical Senses* 35, 375–382.
- ZUK, M. & KOLLURU, G. R. (1998). Exploitation of sexual signals by predators and parasitoids. *Quarterly Review of Biology* 73, 415–438.

(Received 9 May 2016; revised 23 January 2017; accepted 27 January 2017; published online 23 February 2017)